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Have you heard the one about the klutz who scalded herself with her coffee and sued McDonalds?  Or about the woman who received a substantial favorable judgment based on a claim that her psychic abilities were interrupted by a CAT scan?  Chances are you have, and it’s also likely that you heard about them not in a Torts class, but on the radio, on the bus, on a webpage, in a political speech, or in an article detailing “loony lawsuits.”

If you had been in California during the mid-1980s, the story you would have been most likely to hear involved a burglar who fell through a skylight while trying to break into a school and then had the audacity to turn around and sue his intended victims.  Or, maybe it was a story about an athletic teenager named Ricky—up on a gym roof on something of a frolic—who crashed through a painted-over and wholly undetectable skylight, fell thirty feet onto his head, and was rendered a quadriplegic.  The version of Bodine v. Enterprise High School you heard would have depended on who you were talking to.  But the incident, and the subsequent lawsuit and settlement, have become a torts legend by all accounts.
Tort Stories and the Tort Reform Movement

   
Anecdotes involving unusual lawsuits have long been popular with groups advocating pain and suffering damage caps, the abolition of joint and several liability, limits on punitive damages, class action reform, “sound science” in the courtroom, health care liability reform, the promotion of jury service,
 and an end to the use of litigation to achieve regulation (particularly of the tobacco and gun industries).
  These tort reform organizations, although typically controlled by business and insurance interests, seek to associate themselves with the public at large.  In order to do so, they use stories of absurd lawsuits to incite public support for reform and to intimate that abuses of the legal system—rather than their industries’ practices—have triggered the burgeoning prices of goods and insurance.


The popularity of tort stories as a tactic to push for legal reform is not a new phenomenon.  Today, the American Tort Reform Association (ATRA) is the principal publicist of “lawsuit abuse” tales, and the organization’s website solicits stories from people with “first-hand knowledge of how the legal system has grown out of control.”
  But, by the time ATRA was founded in 1986, tort stories were already a favorite tool for advocates of legal reform.  

On the national level, President Reagan was renowned for using anecdotes to push his tort reform agenda.  In late May 1986, Reagan spoke to 300 members of the ATRA at the U.S. Chamber of Commerce.  He advocated limits on non-economic damages and contingency fees in negligence and product liability cases, arguing that large jury awards had “twisted and abused” the nation’s laws to produce “absurd results.”
  In support of his contentions about the legal system, Reagan recounted several torts anecdotes.  One tale told of an obese man who collected a $1.8 million jury verdict when he suffered a heart attack while starting his lawnmower. Another recounted a person’s successful suit against the phone company after he was struck by a car while talking on a public phone.  The President argued that such manipulations of the legal system were responsible for soaring insurance rates and the high cost of consumer goods.


The stories with which Reagan regaled the ATRA conference represented two-thirds of a trilogy of California cases that gained particular favor with reformers during the mid-1980s.  The third was Bodine, the tale of the young burglar who received a substantial settlement after falling through his intended victim’s skylight.  Together, these three cases helped California to gain a reputation as a land of rampant litigation abuse, and during the politically conservative 1980s, they provided the rhetorical force behind a number of state tort reform efforts. 
Bodine’s Enduring Place in Tort Reform Lore

In the aftermath of Bodine, the California legislature considered AB 200, which was intended to limit a property owner’s liability for any injuries a felon incurred while engaging in his crime.  Assemblyman Alister McAlister, the author of AB 200, used a weighted telling of the Bodine tale as part of his campaign to convince the public that his liability legislation was overdue.  McAlister told the press that “in one case, a burglar fell through a skylight while trying to break into a school and was paralyzed in the fall.  He sued for $5 million, charging that the school failed to warn him that the skylight was unsafe.  He managed to extort from the school district $260,000 in an out-of-court settlement plus $1,200 a month for life.”


As later sections of this story will discuss, McAlister’s version of the Bodine tale is not quite right on several accounts.  He omits mitigating facts like Bodine’s age. He suggests that the plaintiff intended to break into the school, whereas Bodine never planned to go beyond the gymnasium roof. And he offers a misleading presentation of Bodine’s legal theory—suggesting that it was a “failure to warn” case, which it was not. 


At the same time, McAllister’s use of Bodine as fuel for his AB 200 campaign was appropriate in that the legislation was reasonably well tailored to address the abuse reformers identified in the case.  Even though AB 200’s supporters may have ignored, omitted, and even manipulated the facts of the case, on a broad level, the legislation sought to protect property owners (such as the Bodine defendants) from individuals who were injured while seeking to commit a felony on the defendants’ property (like the Bodine plaintiff).  


Unfortunately, this overlapping subject matter may have been little more than a happy coincidence. . . . Over the subsequent decades, tort reformers would use Bodine to rally support for legislation to prevent suits by uninsured motorists, limit joint and several liability, and institute all kinds of caps on damage awards.


a. Bodine, Damage Caps, and the Liability Insurance Crisis



In the mid-1980s, a liability insurance crisis rocked U.S. businesses.  Insurance companies began demanding record-high premiums and abandoning some industries altogether.  Consumer advocates and state officials charged with monitoring the insurance industry blamed irresponsible industry practices.  The industry blamed Ricky Bodine.
 


In response to the crisis, Ralph Nader asked Congress to investigate the possibility that insurers were illegally boycotting certain businesses.
  New York’s Superintendent of Insurance, James P. Corcoran, accused the industry of trying to make up for 8 years of industry-created losses in one year by “asking for sympathy, protection and price hikes.”
  Corcoran charged: “It’s like someone setting fire to [his] own house and then asking if [he] can stay with you.”
  


Insurers tried to refocus the public eye on a new enemy.  They pointed the finger at trial lawyers and juries gone mad.  And Ricky Bodine—with his $260,000 settlement and monthly stipend—was one of their principal indicators of a system in crisis.
  Ricky’s settlement amount was actually quite modest relative to his injuries, but the rhetorical force of his story was epic: the industry was able to plead that society desperately needed any kind of damage caps that might prevent a criminal from suing his burglary target (a school, no less) and walking away with a check.


b. Bodine and the Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability

In 1986, the insurance industry succeeded in placing Proposition 51 on the California ballot.  The measure was intended to eliminate joint and several liability for non-economic damages.  One of the 30-second commercials in favor of Prop 51 began, “Attempting to steal from a school, a burglar falls through a gymnasium skylight and sues the school for his injuries.”
  Assemblyman McAllister then said, “I wrote a law to stop ridiculous lawsuits like that, and who were the opponents to my law?  The California trial lawyers.  And now they’re at it again.  They want to stop Prop 51.”  The narrator then finished by promising that Prop 51 offered a fair approach to ending “ridiculous lawsuits.”  

Of course, the Bodine lawsuit was not one of the “ridiculous” efforts that Prop 51 would have prevented.  The issue of joint and several liability never arose in Bodine.  Nonetheless, despite this incongruity between the Bodine facts and the promised effects of Prop 51, proponents insisted that the ad was not misleading because their sole goal was to expose the parallel efforts of trial lawyers.

c. The Personal Responsibility Act of 1996

Bodine reared its head again a decade later, when the insurance industry began to push for voter passage of the Personal Responsibility Act of 1996.  California’s Proposition 213 was intended to shield everyone from damage suits by felons that were injured while committing or fleeing from crimes.
  As an added bonus, Prop 213 also prevented uninsured motorists and intoxicated drivers from recovering pain and suffering damages, even if they were not at fault in the incident that led to their injuries.


Supporters of Proposition 213 echoed the themes that had resonated in popular discourse around the Bodine case a decade earlier.  An editorial in the Redding Record Searchlight written in support of the measure suggested, “[I]f people take no responsibility for the pain and suffering they inflict on others, then they don’t deserve that consideration themselves.”
  In support of his point, the author of the editorial mentioned a vandal who had fallen through the skylight of a building fourteen years earlier and sued the building’s owner.  Like McAlister’s contemporaneous account, and despite the fact that Tom King’s article was published in Ricky Bodine’s local paper, King didn’t get the facts quite right.  According to King, that anonymous notorious vandal who prompted AB 200 had been attempting to enter the unnamed building whose owners he would later sue.
  

Despite any inaccuracies in the Proposition 213 campaign, the Personal Responsibility Act of 1996 earned 77 percent of the popular vote on November 5, 1996 and gained easy passage.
  The Act also survived legal challenges in 1997 and 1998 before being somewhat limited by the California Supreme Court in 1999.

Responses to the Tort Reform Movement’s Tort Stories

Of course, Reagan’s and McAlister’s depictions of the tort system did not go unchallenged.  Consumer groups protested that tort reformers’ primary goal was to insulate big business from litigation rather than to fix a failing legal system.  For example, Ralph Nader’s consumer group, Public Citizen, protested outside of Reagan’s speech to the ATRA.  An attorney with Public Citizen suggested that the Administration’s goal was to convince Congress “to declare amnesty for the makers of products that kill and maim thousands of Americans every year.”
   J. Robert Hunter, president of the National Insurance Consumer Organization and former federal insurance administrator under President Ford, also cautioned against rash legal reform.  He noted that the insurance crisis of the mid-1970s had been caused not by an actual increase in lawsuits but because a lack of data had triggered industry panic and prompted insurance companies to increase premiums and cancel policies.


Legal academics became involved in the debate over tort reform as well.  Those opposing reform used two primary strategies to counter what they believed were manipulated accounts of tort cases.  The first was to expose the “true facts” behind reformers’ popular tort tales.  The second was to conduct empirical research into civil case filings and to suggest that anecdotal evidence of a handful of unusual cases should not motivate systemic reform.
Setting the Facts Straight

In 1987, Fred Strasser published an article in The National Law Journal entitled “Tort Tales: Old Stories Never Die.”  Strasser’s piece sought to expose the more complete facts behind some of the inflammatory anecdotes that had been publicized by the American Tort Reform Association.  The article provided insight into the age of the Bodine plaintiff and the extent of his injuries, described the dangerous condition of Enterprise High’s skylight, and mentioned the death of a young man at nearby Shasta High under similar circumstances eight months before Ricky’s accident.
  


Strasser’s strategy has become popular among critics of the tort reform movement.  Numerous articles have recounted Strasser’s insights into Bodine and have sought to expose the facts behind other much-told tort tales.
   Tort reform critics have revealed that the plaintiff in the CAT scan/ESP case sustained permanent physical injuries as a result of a severe allergic reaction to a pre-scan drug injection. 
  They have noted that the CAT scan judge set aside the $1 million judgment as either excessive or inconsistent with his instruction that the jury not consider the plaintiff’s ESP-related claims.
  Likewise, they have pointed out that the man in Reagan’s lawnmower case was not an “overweight man with a history of coronary disease” but a 32-year-old doctor with no history of heart disease who had shown the lawnmower to be defective.
  Finally, they have clarified that the man who sued the phone company based his case, at least in part, on his allegation that the phone booth door jammed and he was unable to exit the booth when he saw a car veering toward him.
  Moreover, the victim alleged that the same booth had been struck recently by another car.

Although Strasser was the source to whom later legal scholars would turn in considering the Bodine facts, his was not the only, nor even the first, attempt to set the record straight.  In 1985, Rhea Wilson, an associate editor at the Sacramento Bee, wrote an article seeking to expose misleading tort tales.  Her piece, entitled “Fables of Tort Reform,”
 attempted to present a balanced view of the state of tort law.  Wilson conceded that “there are a number of ways in which the nation’s liability laws should be changed, in order to curb the excesses of American lawyers, plaintiffs, juries and courts.”  But she refused to let tort reformers off the hook, charging that, “those making the case are guilty of disturbing excesses themselves.”  Wilson even quoted a tort reform spokesman of the period as responding to a question about a case he had cited by noting, “I don’t really have time to look into the details.”

In order to expose the culture of misrepresentation at work in the tort reform movement, Wilson began by running through the aforementioned trilogy of California cases—all of which had been used in a recent Wall Street Journal Article calling for “Capping The Courts”—and systematically debunking the popular conception of the facts.  According to Wilson, the Wall Street Journal article had begun,
An insurance company is ordered to pay $260,000 plus $1,500 a month to a plaintiff injured when he fell through a skylight while burgling a school.  A man is injured when a drunk driver crashes into a telephone booth and California Supreme Court Justice Rose Bird rules that the company that designed the booth is liable.  An obese man with a heart condition has a heart attack while starting a Sears lawn mower and a jury orders Sears to pay him $1.8 million. 

After presenting the popular view of the three cases, Wilson exposed each in turn.  The heart attack victim was 32 years old, and the lawnmower he had a heart attack while starting was incorrectly put together in a way that the manufacturer knew would unsafely increase the exertion required to start the machine.  Justice Rose Bird (and all but one other justice) ruled only that the man injured in the phone booth deserved to have his case heard before a jury.  Plus, the case was not so absurd as it sounded—the plaintiff presented evidence that the phone booth had been hit two years earlier by a drunk driver and was in such a state of disrepair that he could not open the door when he saw a car speeding toward him.

Finally, in her discussion of Bodine, Wilson pointed out that the defendant wasn’t ordered to pay anything.  In fact, Shasta Unified School District wasn’t even informed that its insurance company had opted to settle until after the settlement was final.  Wilson speculated that, if given the chance, the “notorious” California courts and juries may have held the school liable in Bodine because of the “horrible coincidence that another youngster . . . the previous year had been killed falling through a skylight in the same school district.”  However, Wilson also noted that “[a] number of experts in the field say no California court or jury has ever awarded damages to a burglar hurt while burgling—even a severely injured young burglar like the boy in Redding.”
Other Approaches to Countering Reform Tactics

Some critics have tried to change the contour of the tort reform debate and to move beyond dueling presentations of tort tales.  For example, Michael J. Saks has argued that even if anecdotes were relayed accurately, it would be problematic to advocate reform based on anecdotal evidence.
  Saks’ concern is that such tales arouse people emotionally without offering insight into the system as a whole.  Even if true, individual accounts cannot reveal whether tort cases have increased in frequency, favorability to plaintiffs, or unpredictability.
   Saks argues that “it makes a difference if for every ten anecdotes in which an undeserving plaintiff bankrupts an innocent defendant, one, ten, one hundred, or one thousand equal and opposite injustices are done to innocent plaintiffs.”


While tort reformers were using tales like McAlister’s description of Bodine to prompt legislative action and some critics were publishing articles filling in the missing facts, other academics sought to uncover precisely the kind of information Saks suggested was lacking from anecdotal approaches to tort reform.  In 1986, the National Center for State Courts reviewed caseloads from 20 state court systems and found that civil case filings actually had dropped 4 percent between 1981 and 1984.
  Moreover, states that had experienced increased filings had also experienced population growth at close to the same rate.
  Because 98 percent of all cases were filed in state courts, these findings suggested that the Reagan Administration’s claims about the litigation explosion were overstated.
 


A parallel study of the federal courts by University of Wisconsin professor Marc Galanter found a 62 percent increase in civil cases between 1980 and 1985.
  However, the study also established that half of that increase was attributable to social security cases and resulted from government efforts to recover benefits overpayments.
  Additionally, statistics showing increases in lawsuits did not necessarily indicate that Americans were becoming more litigious.  Sometimes such increases simply reflected enhanced information.  For example, the early 1980s saw a broad dissemination of information about the injurious qualities of asbestos.  The publication of that information essentially created a new legal field.


Neither studies of civil case filings nor the “true facts” behind tort cases are likely to compete with reformers’ tort tales in terms of rhetorical appeal or spokesperson prominence.  Nonetheless, a look at the full record from a famous tort tale like Bodine is illuminating.  Such an endeavor provides insight into our legal and political systems and reveals some of the tactics of both reformers and their critics.  In the eyes of tort reform advocates, Ricky Bodine is a criminal who exploited the legal system in order to further victimize his burglary target, Enterprise High School.  To critics of the reform movement, Bodine was a young prankster who was wronged first as a result of Enterprise High School’s severe negligence and again by the tort reformers who distorted his story.  As is often the case, the reality is at once in between and far beyond the conflicting tales.
Bodine v. Enterprise High School:
 The Whole Story Behind a Torts Legend

Rick Earl Bodine was born on July 15, 1963.
  Ricky, as he was known to his friends and family, was the fourth child of J.E. Bodine and Patricia McAbier of Redding, California.
  In 1981, at the age of 18, Ricky took a job working forty hours per week and earning $3.50 per hour bussing tables at a Redding Denny’s Restaurant.
  He had recently graduated from high school and planned to use his earnings to establish financial independence from his parents and to move into his own place.
  Ricky was an athletic, muscular young man around 6’1” tall.  He dreamed of securing an athletic scholarship and following in the footsteps of his two brothers and sister and attending college.
  


Two of Ricky’s coworkers at Denny’s were Larry Warren Crow, who had graduated from Redding’s Enterprise High School earlier in 1981, and eighteen-year-old cook Donald Dwayne Parker (Duane).
  After working together for a few months, the three young men decided to find a house and move in together.
  Around November or December 1981, Larry, Duane, Ricky, and Larry’s wife, Trish, all moved into 2380 Nebula Street in Redding.

The Night of March 1, 1982


Sometime after 10 pm on March 1, 1982, Ricky, Larry, and Duane were joined at 2380 Nebula Street by Roy Olmstead, an 18-year-old Midas Muffler mechanic who had attended and graduated from Enterprise High with Larry.
  The four young men had been in the house for about twenty minutes when Duane and Ricky decided to go over to Enterprise High to steal a floodlight from the school’s tennis courts.
  They wanted a portable light that they could use in their weight room as well as to light a basketball hoop they planned to put up outside.
  Roy, who had prior arrests for drunk driving and stealing vehicles’ CB radios, did not want to go along, so Ricky and Duane left the house alone at around 11 pm.
  It was raining, and a police report from later in the night noted that Ricky, who didn’t like cold weather, was wearing five shirts, two pairs of long johns, and jeans.
  The two boys drove to Enterprise in Duane’s car.
  They took two gym bags containing rope and a wrench to loosen the bolts on the light.


Around 15 minutes later, Larry and Roy decided to drive over to the school to scare Ricky and Duane.
  They snuck across the football field and watched as their friends tried to make a rope ladder and throw it over the tennis court light.
  When the rope broke, Ricky and Duane decided instead to take a light from the roof of the building that housed the school’s weight room and girls’ gymnasium.
  Larry and Roy went along to help them.
  


The gymnasium building had numerous ledges, and Ricky was able to climb to the roof easily.
  The other boys stayed on the ground, with Roy standing nearby while Larry and Duane went to keep a lookout.
  At around 11:30 pm, Ricky unbolted the light on the southeastern corner of the building, attached it to a rope, and lowered it to Roy.
  He then proceeded to walk across to the other side of the gymnasium’s aluminum roof, either to climb down or to unbolt a second light.
  A few moments later, the three boys on the ground heard breaking glass and a crash.  Duane and Larry thought that Ricky had dropped a light, but Roy ran to them in a panic and said that he thought Ricky had fallen through the roof.


Duane and Larry told Roy to take the light, stash it somewhere, run back to Larry’s house, and drive home.
  The boys were likely concerned about Roy’s prior arrests and wanted to try to keep him out of trouble since he had expressed reluctance about the night’s activities from the beginning.  While Roy hid the light in the bushes near Larry’s car, the other two boys used a tetherball pole to break into the gym.
  The room was pitch dark, and the boys could not find a light switch, but they could see a hole in the roof 30 feet above, and they could hear Ricky breathing.
  When Duane was unable to awaken Ricky, he told Larry to go and call an ambulance.
  Larry drove to the nearby Redding Fire Department and rang the emergency buzzer.
  



When Larry returned to the gymnasium with the firefighters, the lights were still off and Ricky had not woken up.
  Investigators D. Brownfield and Gary Hughes of the Redding Police Department arrived soon after.
  They noticed that Ricky’s many layers of clothing were soaked through due to the rainstorm.
  They also noticed something unusual about the glass that was scattered around him.  The police report noted that while the inside of the glass was tinted green, the exterior side was coated with a silver-type roof adhesive.


After investigating the scene, Brownfield and Hughes took Larry outside to question him.  Larry claimed that the boys had lost a football on the roof and that Ricky was trying to recover it.
  The officers were suspicious of the story because of the time of night and the weather, but Larry insisted that the trio played night football all the time regardless of the conditions.
  Brownfield and Hughes then questioned Duane, who admitted that he and Ricky had planned to “steal several floodlights.”
  After hearing that Duane had confessed, Larry admitted that he had invented his earlier account out of fear.
  Larry and Duane eventually told the police that Roy had been with them earlier in the night, and when the investigators questioned him, Roy corroborated Larry and Duane’s description of the evening’s events.


The police also later questioned Enterprise High School’s vice principal, who estimated the value of the light that Ricky had unbolted at around $35.

 The Aftermath


As a result of the fall, Ricky sustained massive head injuries which rendered him a spastic quadriplegic.
  Fortunately, he had medical insurance through Denny’s, because he was to spend the next year moving from one hospital to another.
  He spent the first two to three months after the accident comatose at Memorial Hospital in Redding.
  After around 6 weeks, he opened his eyes, but he remained unresponsive and exhibited decerebrate posturing, seizures, and aphasia.
    


  Ricky was transferred from Memorial Hospital to Kentfield Medical Hospital on June 1, 1982.
  At Kentfield, he displayed minimal responses and only inconsistently opened his eyes and mouth on command.
  After making insignificant rehabilitative progress at Kentfield, Ricky was transferred to Pacific Convalescent Hospital in Eureka.
  Larry went to visit Ricky in Eureka and later described the event by saying, “it was just like, you know, he was just barely awake.”
  


In April 1983, Ricky returned to Redding to live in a rented apartment with his mother.
  By that time, Ricky’s parents were divorced, but both still lived in Redding, and his father visited him daily.
  His mother collected $788 per month for providing full-time care for her son, and Ricky received an additional $451 from SSI.
  


In order to care for Ricky at home, the family needed a hospital bed, an electric wheelchair, and a Hoyer lifter (which allowed his mom to transfer him between the bed and his wheelchair).
  As of June 1983, Rick was up in his wheelchair for between 3 and 4 hours each day.
  He had regained some use of his left arm, and was able to play Atari, which, along with watching television, was his primary activity.


A year and a half after the accident, Ricky’s medical records from the Santa Clara Valley Medical Center stated that he had spastic quadriplegia, a chronic condition in which the muscles below the neck experience persistent spasms because of damage to motor nerves in the central nervous system.  He also had flexion contractures in his hips, knees, right shoulder, and right elbow and was developing ossification in several joints.
  After further evaluation, Doctor Eugene Padel planned to perform surgery in order to correct the contractures and ossification.
  


As of January 30, 1984, when Ricky’s attorneys filed their Settlement Conference Statement, Ricky was able to roll in bed and pull himself into a sitting position using a trapeze.
  Using special equipment, he was able to feed himself, wash his face, hands, and upper body, and brush his teeth.
  He could communicate with his mother through a form of one-handed sign language they had developed, but he continued to require continual attendant care.
 


The Bodine case file and subsequent accounts of the case provide little insight into the fate of Larry, Duane and Roy.  In fact, most reports of the incident suggest that Ricky was alone on March 1, 1982.  According to testimony during the Assembly’s consideration of AB 200, “the uninjured companions pleaded guilty to burglary and were punished.”
  However, during my research, I’ve not seen any other references to criminal charges against Ricky’s compatriots.  In addition, the lack of specificity and opaque reference to “punishment” in the Assembly commentary are suspect.
The Incident at Shasta High 

On June 6, 1981, less than 9 months before the events at Enterprise High School, a janitor named Zrick was cleaning the rear gym and locker area at neighboring Shasta High, also in Redding.
  A coworker called to Zrick that a man was lying in the wrestling room and refused to leave.  The two janitors returned to the wrestling room and yelled at the man, but they got no response.  When they noticed that the intruder’s skin was discolored, they called the police.
  


The police reported that they arrived to find a white male lying dead on a one inch-thick wrestling mat.  The investigator saw a hole in the ceiling above the victim and noted glass on the mat.  According to the investigator, one side of the glass was smoky in color while the other side was a painted surface similar to aluminum roofing paint.  Witnesses interviewed by the police explained that the skylight windows had been painted over when the roof was being painted and that it was now “nearly impossible to determine what was roof” and what was skylight.


The police eventually determined that the victim in the Shasta High incident was 19-year-old Paul Schuur.  On the evening of graduation, Paul and his friends had been drinking and decided to go for a swim at the Shasta High pool before attending the graduation ceremony.  According to Zrick, people regularly climbed over the roof to use the pool, and the barbed wire that was designed to prevent roof access had been cut two months before the accident.
  Paul only swam for a few minutes before leaving his friends and climbing back onto the roof.  The others assumed that he had gone to watch the graduation ceremony.  When his friends left the ceremony to join Paul some time later, they found his shoes still stashed on the roof where he had left them.  One of his friends worried that Paul had passed out on the roof, but when he searched more closely, he did not find anyone. All of the boys left for graduation without realizing that their friend had fallen through a skylight and was lying on a wrestling mat in the gym below them.

The Lawsuit

While Ricky was still in a coma, his parents hired Oakland, California law firm Naphan and Glassford to represent their son in a case against Enterprise High School, the Shasta Union High School District, Shasta County, and the City of Redding.
  The plaintiff filed a complaint in the Shasta County Superior Court claiming personal injuries, including severe nervous shock and fright, severe head injuries with possible brainstem injury, quadriplegia, total physical disability, and other injuries the nature and extent of which were unknown at the time of filing.
  The complaint also alleged that the plaintiff’s injuries were permanent and were the direct and proximate result of the carelessness and negligence of the defendants.
  The plaintiff requested special damages for past and future medical costs and wage loss as well as general damages in the amount of $5 million.


Ricky Bodine’s complaint charged that the county and city defendants had negligently designed, approved, constructed, owned, maintained, inspected, supervised, and operated the gymnasium at Enterprise.
  The county and city denied those claims and filed motions for summary judgment asserting statutory immunity pursuant to the Tort Claims Act.
  Under the Tort Claims Act, public entities are liable for injuries to third parties only where provided by statute.  The applicable statutes held such defendants liable only where the injury occurred on property owned or controlled by the public entity, which the gym was not.  The plaintiff’s investigation and discovery eventually found no evidence supporting liability against the city and county defendants, and both parties were dismissed in late 1983.


Remaining defendants Enterprise High School and the Shasta Union High School District acquired the services of Redding law firm Barr, Newlan, & Sinclair.
  Shasta County’s Judge Redmon was selected to preside over the litigation.
  

In 1968, the California Supreme Court in Rowland v. Christian had written, “a man’s life or limb does not become less worthy of protection by the law nor a loss less worthy of compensation under the law because he has come upon the land of another without permission… reasonable people do not ordinarily vary their conduct depending upon such matters.”
  Nonetheless, the defendants filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that that the plaintiff’s status as a trespasser barred recovery as a matter of law.  On June 6, 1983, Judge Redmon denied the motion for summary judgment, holding that the issue of whether the skylight was a dangerous, defective, and hazardous condition on public property was a question of fact for the jury.


A settlement conference was set for February 7, 1984.  By the time the plaintiff filed his settlement conference statement on January 30, he was claiming special damages exceeding $3 million in addition to the $5 million in general damages.
  Ricky’s attorneys calculated that his wage loss for the 100 weeks of work he had missed totaled $14,400, and that his future wage loss ranged from $336,960 to $900,000 depending on whether he would have attended college.
  His past medical care costs totaled $182,198.55.
  The settlement conference statement also estimated a life expectancy of 72 years and approximated Ricky’s future medical care costs to total $2,734,000.
  

	Cost
	Per Annum
	Lifetime

	Routine medical follow-up and exams (including physicians, laboratory, x-rays)
	$1,000
	$52,000

	Medications
	$1, 000
	$52,000

	Hospitalizations for major complications (surgical procedures)
	$5,000
	$260,000

	Consumable supplies
	$2,000
	$104,000

	Attendant care
	$25,000
	$1,300,000

	Equipment repair, replacements, orthotics, etc.
	$2,000
	$104,000

	Mental health concerns and treatment
	$2,500
	$130,000

	Specialized rehabilitation (Physical, occupational, and speech therapists)
	$5,000
	$260,000

	Expenses toward home modifications, specialized transportation, communication, work, study, and recreation
	$5,000
	$260,000

	Emergency fund
	$1,500
	$78,000

	Specially equipped van
	$2,200
	$114,000  (+$20,000 up-front to purchase)

	Totals
	$51,200
	$2,734,000


Table 1

BODINE VS. ENTERPRISE HIGH SCHOOL

SPECIALS

HOSPITAL EXPENSE


Memorial Hospital




$90,773.26


Pacific Convalescent Hospital


    4,726.48


Santa Clara Valley Medical Center


  16,155.66


Kentfield Medical Hospital



  30,289.58


St. Joseph Hospital




         58.24 
$142,003.22

DOCTORS’ EXPENSE


Lang M. Dayton, M.D.



       323.00


David Irvine





       186.50


Howard D. Siedler, M.D.



       575.00


Susan Ainslie, M.D.




       336.00


M.G. Cleary, M.D.




       482.00


Everett D. Trevor, M.D.



    3,309.00


James D. Tate, M.D.




    1.228.00


Nathan Cope, M.D.




       960.00
      7,399.50

THERAPY EXPENSE

Mercy Medical Center



       272.00


Redding Radiological




       999.25


Marin Radiological




       201.80
      1,473.05

DRUGS/PRESCRIPTIONS EXPENSE


Eureka Pharmacy




       241.46


To Health Services (State)



    9,581.82


Henderson Center Drugs



       166.63
      9,989.91

AMBULANCE EXPENSE


United Ambulance




    3,997.00


Redding Ambulance




       270.00


Chico Ambulance




       932.75
      5,199.75

ORTHOPEDIC DEVICE EXPENSE


Pasillos Orthotics (seating system)


       831.00


North Valley Respiratory and Wheelchair

    3,302.62
      4,133.62


TOTAL EXPENSES






$170,199.05


Although Ricky initially had medical insurance through his job at Denny’s, his coverage terminated in August 1983, after which point he relied on Medi-Cal as his sole insurance provider.
  On February 8, 1984, State Attorney General John K. Van De Kamp filed a Notice of Medi-Cal Lien in the Bodine case on behalf of the State Director of Health Services.
  The Director claimed a first lien in the amount of $21,788.45 upon proceeds or satisfaction of any judgment in favor of Ricky.  The lien represented the amount expended by the State for benefits provided to Ricky as a beneficiary, and it was subject to amendment as those expenses grew.  Shasta County California Children’s Services filed an additional lien of $1,500.


The parties failed to reach a resolution to the case at the settlement conference on February 7, and the trial was set for March 6, 1984, just over two years after the accident.

On March 6, the 51-person jury pool was convened and the parties presented their motions in limine.  The plaintiff sought to exclude mention that Ricky was engaging in criminal conduct when the accident occurred, that he was a trespasser, and that he was careless in any risk not specific to the skylight.
  The defendants sought to exclude reference to the Shasta High incident, any accidents after March 1, 1982, and any evidence of subsequent repairs.


Judge Redmon never ruled on the parties’ motions in limine.  However, both parties were unlikely to succeed on their most important motions.
  Although Rowland might have prevented the defense from arguing that Ricky’s status as a felonious trespasser negated the school’s duty, the tale of the events at Enterprise on March 1, 1982 would not make much sense were the defense forced to omit entirely Ricky’s reason for being on the roof.  The defendants were likewise unlikely to succeed in their efforts to omit mention of the Shasta High incident.  Paul Schuur’s death spoke directly to the foreseeability of the March 1, 1982 accident.


Both parties had difficult decisions to make in evaluating whether to settle.  On the one hand, the plaintiff had been trespassing and was in the process of burglarizing the school when he fell.  On the other, the plaintiffs had numerous statements suggesting that the painted over skylights constituted a hazard, Ricky was young, and he had suffered serious permanent injuries as a result of the accident.

What Motivated the Eventual Settlement & Its Terms?

In the end, Bodine and the defendants’ insurance company would settle on the much-discussed $260,000 plus $1200 monthly stipend. But, why did Bodine accept such a deep discount?  And why did Enterprise and Shasta Union settle at all?  A case decided on the other side of the country a decade after the Bodine settlement provides some insight into both of those decisions.

a. Matthew Kurshals’s Story

On May 28, 1996, the Second Department in New York’s Appellate Division issued a final judgment in Kurshals v. Connectquot Central School District.
  Just over a year earlier, the Supreme Court of Suffolk County had granted summary judgment in favor of the defendant, dismissing the personal injury case brought by 15-year-old Matthew Kurshals.

Matthew’s lawsuit began with a game of handball in the schoolyard of Peconic Street Junior High School in Ronkonkoma.  One of the ballplayers hit the ball onto the gymnasium roof, and Matthew decided to retrieve it.  Matthew had attended Peconic and conceded that he knew about the skylights on the roof.  But, even if the skylights weren’t fresh in his mind when he decided to go after the ball, they were by the time he set foot on the second level of the roof.  He saw the four-foot by four-foot domes from the first tier of the roof before he climbed up to the level on which the ball had landed.  After seeing the skylights, Matthew climbed up onto the upper tier of the roof, stepped on a skylight, and crashed through to the gym floor.

b. Applying Kurshals to the Bodine Case

The Appellate Division in Kurshals affirmed the lower court’s granting of summary judgment for the defendant.  Some of the circumstances surrounding that decision—including the holding itself—suggest why Ricky and his lawyers may have accepted such a low settlement offer.  


The Kurshals court never mentioned Matthew’s trespasser status in its discussion of the school’s duty.  It applied essentially the same standard that would have governed the Bodine case, stating that: 

A landowner has a duty to exercise reasonable care in maintaining his property in a safe condition under all of the circumstances, including the likelihood of injury to others, the seriousness of the potential injuries, the burden of avoiding the risk, and the foreseeability of a potential plaintiff’s presence on the property.

Applying this standard in the case of a youngster retrieving a ball (as opposed to the less foreseeable and less sympathetic instance of a young man trying to steal property from the defendant) the Appellate Division affirmed a summary judgment motion in favor of the district.  Moreover, the New York court downplayed evidence that the school district knew children sometimes climbed onto the roof, asserting that, “foreseeability of misuse alone is insufficient to make out a cause of action.”


In Bodine, the plaintiff risked the prospect that the jury would be insensitive to his plight because he was engaging in criminal activity when he was injured.  After all, the incomplete tale of the Bodine case was to become a battle cry for California’s tort reform movement, rallying public support for limitations on landowner liability to injured criminals.  There was no way for the plaintiffs to ensure that the jury would overlook Ricky’s reason for venturing out on March 1, 1982 and focus on the defendants’ behavior.


At the same time, some of the distinctions between Kurshals and Bodine also offer insight into the Bodine defendants’ willingness to settle.  First, Enterprise and Shasta Union had already lost their summary judgment motions.  This loss had an added significance in the Bodine case because of the nature of Ricky’s injuries.  The Kurshals court made no mention of the injuries Matthew sustained in his fall.  When Bodine settled, the parties were already in the early stages of jury selection.  The defendants could not count on a legal judgment divorced from consideration of Ricky’s condition.  Whereas the press, tort reformers, and politicians may have succeeded in painting Ricky as a faceless burglar, defense counsel would have no such luxury.

Second, the Kurshals court devoted three sentences of a fourteen-sentence opinion to the fact that Matthew was aware of the highly visible skylights. The court noted that although a landowner generally has a duty to warn of potentially dangerous conditions, this duty did not apply in two circumstances, one of which was where a condition was “readily observable.” 

By all accounts, the Enterprise skylights were not “readily observable.”  The defendants could not specify when or for what reason the skylights at Enterprise had been painted over with the thick aluminum paint.
  They believed the work was done in the late 1960s as part of a school district effort to reduce internal summer temperatures and remedy minor leakage problems.  What was evident was that the painted over skylights were difficult to distinguish from the aluminum roof.  Even the business manager of the defendant school district had acknowledged as much.
  The police report in the Bodine case had also noted the similar appearance of the paint and the roof.
  In addition, Larry Crow stated in his deposition that he had gone onto the roof on previous occasions and that “no, you can’t tell there is glass up there.”
  

The second circumstance in which the Kurshals court suggested that a landowner was not responsible for failing to address a potentially dangerous condition was if the injury was the result of an “extraordinary occurrence.”  Such an occurrence is one which “would not suggest itself to a reasonably careful and prudent person as one which should be guarded against.”  That court deemed Matthew’s accident to be the result of his own “misuse of the skylight, which was an extraordinary occurrence that need not have been guarded against.”

In contrast, certain elements of the Bodine case made it less likely that the jury would deem Ricky’s accident an extraordinary occurrence.  First, the defendants faced the possibility that because the skylights were hidden, the jury would be incensed that the high school and the school district had endangered other young people who were not engaging in crimes and would seek to punish them by awarding a substantial verdict to Ricky.  The defendants admitted in their responses to the plaintiff’s interrogatories that they were aware that students and other young people commonly went onto the gymnasium roof to retrieve sports equipment.
  In Larry’s deposition, he reported hearing that “another kid fell through the same place Rick fell through, I don’t know how long after.”

 
Moreover, any doubt as to whether the defendants recognized the specific risk that someone could fall through one of the painted-over skylights was resolved by the fatal accident at Shasta High less than a year earlier.  The defendants undoubtedly recognized the risk of going to trial and having the jury learn that they had failed to take even minor steps such as posting warnings on the roofs or placing a wood barrier over the skylight following Paul Schuur’s fatal fall.



The uncertainty surrounding the probable outcome of Bodine eventually induced the parties to settle.  They reached an agreement whereby the defendants would pay Ricky the initial sum of $260,000 in addition to monthly payments of $1,200 for life.
  In total this eventually would be expected to amount to approximately $1 million, but its present value would be far less than that.  In short, the plaintiffs ended up with nothing in the neighborhood of the $8 million in damages they had requested.  The case was dismissed with prejudice on April 26, 1984.
 

Two Decades Later

As of January 2004, Ricky was still living in Redding.  His mother was caring for him, as she had ever since his accident.  He identified his hobbies as reading the Bible and Bible literature and “visualizing [his] life in [God’s] new system.” He had created a website and posted two photographs of himself—one from before the Enterprise accident and another taken in 2000, at the age of 40.  He stated that his reasons for publicizing the pictures were because he wanted people to know what he gave up by having his accident and because he wanted to warn people not to break the law.

[image: image1.jpg]


[image: image2.jpg]




Ricky Bodine in April or May 1981.

      Ricky Bodine in January or February 2000.
A Brief Moment in Time: Situating Bodine within California’s Legal and Political 

Landscape

Ricky sustained his tragic injuries and filed his case during the decade in California legal history when the law was most likely to support his claim for relief.  In 1968, the California Supreme Court had done away with common law distinctions that had severely limited a property owner’s duty to protect trespassers and social guests from harm.
  Seven years later, in Li v. Yellow Cab, the same court adopted the doctrine of pure comparative negligence, abandoning the contributory negligence system that had been in place in for the entirety of California’s judicial history.
  


The plaintiff-friendly trend reflected in Rowland and Li did not find support in the California legislature, however.  In 1985, plaintiffs lost some ground when Civil Code section 847 went into effect and began to immunize property owners against tort claims for injuries sustained during the commission of certain felonies.  Ricky Bodine’s accident and the subsequent lawsuit took place during the decade-long window after the Li decision and prior to the passage of Civil Code section 847.  Neither before or since would he have stood as good a chance of recovery.
Rowland v. Christian: Opening the Door to Suits Against Property Owners


Rowland v. Christian, decided by the California Supreme Court in 1968, signaled the end to the traditional bar on suits by non-business guests that were injured through a property owner’s negligence.  Although the case dealt with an injury to a social guest, the Rowland duty clearly extended to trespassers.  The court even went so far as to state that “[a] man’s life or limb does not become less worthy of protection by the law nor a loss less worthy of compensation under the law because he has come upon the land of another without permission….”
  As noted above, Rowland sought to remove legal distinctions and classifications that had become overly intricate, confusing, and conflicting, and which were based in the feudal tradition, where landowners controlled lawmaking.
   


Rowland began by affirming California Civil Code section 1714 as a fundamental principle, establishing that “a person is liable for injuries caused by his failure to exercise reasonable care in the circumstances.”
  The court then went on to state that “in the absence of a statutory provision declaring an exception to the fundamental principle . . . no such exception should be made unless clearly supported by public policy.”
  In other words, property owners were not to be immunized against suits by individuals because the injured was a trespasser or social guest rather than an invited business visitor.  Even after Rowland, clear public policy goals might lead to the dismissal of certain suits, but injured trespassers like Ricky Bodine at least had an opportunity to test their cases.


California Civil Code section 847—which would be passed around seventeen years after the Rowland decision—was promoted as a return to pre-Rowland jurisprudence for a certain class of trespassing plaintiffs.  In fact, a 1985 editorial in the San Francisco Chronicle charged that Rowland, “threw common law and common sense to the winds,” and praised section 847 as an effort “to restore a little of both at the current session of the Legislature.”
  If you take Rowland’s account of the common law at its word, the return to a pre-Rowland state would mean that as to affected plaintiffs, property owners would have “only the duty of refraining from wanton or willful injury.”
  

However, even prior to Rowland, California courts were straining their interpretations of precedent to soften the law.  For example, in order to give injured social guests some legal recourse, courts were making tenuous distinctions between active conduct and passive negligence and granting relief for the former.
  At the same time, I found no examples of such leniency with regard to trespassers, and certainly not with regard to felonious trespassers.  Therefore, a plaintiff in Ricky Bodine’s position would likely not have been able to sustain a claim against Enterprise High and Shasta Union prior to the 1968 Rowland decision.
Li v. Yellow Cab: California Adopts Comparative Negligence

Li v. Yellow Cab broke down another barrier that may have plagued Ricky Bodine’s suit.  Until 1975, California operated under a contributory negligence scheme.  Contributory negligence “bars all recovery when the plaintiff’s negligent conduct has contributed as a legal cause in any degree to the harm suffered by him.”
  Because California’s courts recognized the doctrine of last clear chance, the state’s system was not as harsh as it might have been.
  Plus, as the Li court acknowledged, California juries had long taken matters into their own hands and “often [did] in fact allow recovery in cases of contributory negligence, and [] the compromise in the jury room [did] result in some diminution of the damages because of the plaintiff’s fault.”
  Nonetheless, California was not yet one of the 26 states that had abandoned the contributory negligence scheme as inequitable and ineffectual.


That all changed in 1975.  The Li court decided that the codification of the contributory negligence doctrine in Civil Code section 1714 was subject to judicial modification, and the court proceeded to establish a system of comparative negligence.
  The new system was a “pure” comparative negligence scheme in that it “assesse[d] liability in direct proportion to fault” without considering whether the defendant or the plaintiff was more at fault.


Whether Ricky’s suit would have been impeded by the old contributory negligence doctrine is difficult to say.  On first blush, there seems to be little question.  If Ricky hadn’t been on the roof engaging in illegal conduct, he would never have stepped on the skylight and sustained his injuries.  Therefore, his conduct certainly meets the first prong of the contributory negligence test established by the Restatement Second of Torts—that is, Ricky was guilty of “conduct . . . which falls below the standard to which he should conform for his own protection.”
  

The case, then, would have turned on the second prong of the inquiry—whether Ricky’s conduct was “a legally contributing cause cooperating with the negligence of the defendant in bringing about the plaintiff’s harm.”
  Ricky may have been negligent in climbing the roof, or in deciding to engage in criminal conduct.  But, was the harm of falling through a painted over, wholly hidden skylight the type of harm one would expect to sustain as a result of such negligent conduct?  The chance of slipping off of the gym roof, of hurting himself while removing the light, even of falling through a visible skylight, all seem foreseeable consequences of his acts.  However, the proximate cause question is much more difficult when faced with the actual harm Ricky suffered. 


Ricky and his lawyers had a colorable argument that Ricky’s behavior was not a proximate cause of his injuries and that contributory negligence doctrine should not apply.  However, the fact that Ricky was burglarizing Enterprise when he was injured would have made it difficult to convince a jury that the defendants were entirely to blame for his injuries.  As a result, the jury likely would have been heavily influenced by a contributory negligence instruction, and Ricky likely would have recovered nothing in a pre-Li universe.  The Li decision therefore removed a significant hurdle for the Bodine plaintiff.
The Political Legacy of Bodine: California Civil Code Section 847

In 1979, well before the Bodine case, California Assemblyman Alister McAlister, a Democrat from Milpitas, authored a bill intended to shut the door that Rowland and Li had opened to felonious trespassers.  The legislation passed overwhelmingly in both the Assembly and the Senate but was vetoed by Governor Jerry Brown.
  As a result, when Bodine was filed, Ricky’s suit was not barred by the fact that he had been injured during the commission of a crime.


a. The Path to Section 847’s Passage

By the mid-1980s, it looked as though the time was ripe for another attempt at premises liability legislation akin to the bill that Brown had vetoed in 1979.  On the national level, the Reagan Administration was vocal in its support of tort reform.  Within California, the press and public had paid substantial attention to Bodine and a couple other recent settlements in favor of injured trespassers.  Assemblyman McAlister seized upon this favorable climate for reform.  During the week of January 7, 1985, he introduced AB 200, noted above, which provided that a property owner would not be held liable to criminals for any injury sustained in connection with specified felonies.
   


Three principal opponents had stalled past efforts to immunize landowners against certain tort suits.
  Organized labor had expressed concerns that such legislation would favor management over labor and farmers over laborers.
  The California Trial Lawyers’ Association feared that landowner immunity would encourage property owners to commit violent acts against trespassers.
  And the American Civil Liberties Union had misgivings about the civil court adjudicating whether a felony had been committed as part of a tort trial.
  In drafting AB 200, McAlister sought to address these concerns in order to pave the way for his bill.


First, AB 200 proposed only a partial adjustment of Rowland v. Christian.  The legislation was intended to bar a specific class of tort suits by trespassers.  Only those plaintiffs who were injured while engaging in one of 25 enumerated felonies were affected by the premises liability exemption.
  


In addition, the defendant property owner would be granted immunity only after the plaintiff was charged with an enumerated felony and convicted of that felony, a lesser included felony, or a misdemeanor arising from the felony. 
  This limitation served not only the ACLU’s fairness and competency concerns but also the legislature’s own interest in expediency.  Because one purpose of AB 200 was to facilitate early dismissal of certain tort suits, the legislature did not want the court to have the added obligation of adjudicating whether the plaintiff had been injured in the course of committing an applicable felony.    


Two final limitations on AB 200 immunity addressed the California Trial Lawyers’ Association’s worry that such legislation would embolden property owners to engage in vigilante justice.  First, the defense would be available only where the injury occurred after the plaintiff commenced the felony and before he left the defendant’s property.
  Second, the legislation would not limit the liability of a property owner or his agent where the injury to the plaintiff occurred as a result of the defendant’s “willful, wanton, or criminal conduct” or his “willful or malicious failure to guard or warn against a dangerous condition, use, structure, or activity.”
  Thus, the AB 200 defense was not available to property owners who set or maintained dangerous traps with the purpose of injuring or deterring criminals, or to those who tracked down and caused harm to criminals after they had left the premises.


After its introduction in the Assembly, AB 200 was assigned to the Assembly Judiciary Committee.  It soon began to look as though political interests could keep the bill tied up in committee.
  At that point, a small lobbying group called ACTIV mobilized to compel consideration of the legislation.


Retired Army colonel Lee A. Phelps had created ACTIV after reading about a couple of substantial settlements in favor of injured felons (including the Bodine case). The group was dedicated to the passage of legislation that would protect property owners against suits by felonious trespassers.  In 1985, ACTIV devoted itself to promoting AB 200.  Over the course of the year, ACTIV would spend in the neighborhood of $5,000 lobbying in favor of the legislation.  In contrast, the California Trial Lawyers’ Association (the principal opponent of the premises liability exemption) was one of the top five lobbying and campaign spenders in the state, and had reported lobbying expenditures of $547,000 the prior year.
  


When AB 200 stalled in committee, ACTIV sent out mailers to the constituents of the Judiciary Committee members.  The mailers told voters how much money trial lawyers had contributed to their representative and demanded to know if the assemblyperson represented the district or “the criminals and their lawyers.”  The organization also sent brochures discussing the legislation to television and radio stations.
  


Following ACTIV’s efforts, AB 200 was released from committee and sent to the floor of the Assembly for a vote.  The legislature specifically considered two cases during the debate on AB 200.  The first involved a young man in San Benito County who stole a farmer’s motorcycle and was rendered permanently disabled when he hit a furrow while joyriding across the farmer’s field.  The farmer’s insurance company paid the young motorcycle thief $500,000 because the hazard was not posted.
   The second case was Bodine.  A Los Angeles Times article written in May 1985, addressing then-pending AB 200 called Bodine “the ‘classic’ case that has spurred efforts in the state Legislature to get property owners off this unpleasant hook.”


Testimony during the consideration of AB 200 suggested that it was born out of the legislature’s desire to take criminal conduct by the plaintiff into account rather than basing premises liability solely on the condition of the land.  The two-fold goal of the legislation was (1) to “address the increasing number of attempts by criminals injured in the course of their crimes to demand compensation from their intended victims” and (2) to facilitate early dismissal of such suits.


During the first week of June 1985, the Assembly approved AB 200 by a 71-2 vote and sent the bill to the Senate.
  In mid-September, the bill was approved by the Senate and sent to the governor for his consideration. 
  Governor Deukmejian signed the bill into law in October 1985 in the waning hours of the legislative year, and it remains in effect as California Civil Code section 847.

b. The Man Behind Section 847


Alister McAlister was a Democrat in the California State Assembly from 1970 to 1986.  He was a member of the Finance and Insurance Committee, and much of his work involved legislation with insurance implications.  In addition to section 847, McAlister authored a bill intended to prevent lawsuits against gun manufacturers, legislation that would have applied the stipulations of the Medical Injury Compensation Act across the board to all areas of professional liability, and legislation that would have essentially established California as a no-fault state for auto injuries.  As of September 2003, McAlister was employed as a workers’ compensation lobbyist for the Association of California Insurance Companies (ACIC).

How Would Bodine Likely Have Fared After the Passage of Section 847?


Although section 847 was motivated largely by the Bodine case, there is some question as to whether the legislation would bar an identical suit brought after its passage.  Answering that question requires a two-part inquiry: First, would Bodine’s conduct have qualified as occurring during the commission of an enumerated offense?  Second, was the defendants’ behavior sufficiently egregious to meet the “wanton and willful” conduct exception to section 847 immunity?
Conviction for an Enumerated Felony


Although Civil Code section 847 was intended to import a consideration of criminal law into torts, in practice, the section may have also achieved the reverse effect—leading to a consideration of civil liability in the criminal context.  Section 847(e) requires a felony charge and related conviction before a defendant property owner will be granted immunity against suit by an injured plaintiff.  As a result, prosecutors may be pushed to bring charges where they would not otherwise be inclined to do so.


Although news of the Bodine settlement inspired Lee Phelps to create ACTIV and factored into the legislature’s consideration of AB 200, the terms of section 847 do not reach the actual facts of the Bodine case.  That is, although the Redding police conducted a criminal investigation into the events of March 1, 1982, no charges were filed against Ricky.  Therefore, Section 847(e) would have rendered the immunity defense inapplicable to the case.  Of course, had section 847 been in effect at the time of the Enterprise accident, there may have been substantial pressure on prosecutors to file attempted burglary charges against Ricky in order to insulate the school against potentially massive tort liability.  Consider Calvillo-Silva v. Home Grocery (the principle case interpreting section 847).  There, the plaintiff had been prosecuted for attempted grand theft, despite the fact that he was rendered a paraplegic when the defendant shot him.
 

 In addition, it is difficult to assess whether Ricky’s conduct would have qualified as a felony.  If, as the vice principal suggested, the burglary target was really a $35 light that had not worked for some time; it is difficult to imagine that a felony charge would have been appropriate.  On the other hand, the police report estimated the value of the same light at $200.
  Plus, there was some indication that when Ricky crashed through the skylight, he was crossing the roof in order to dislodge another light.
  
Bodine and the Exceptions to section 847 Immunity

Even if Ricky’s conduct on March 1, 1982 left him vulnerable to a felony charge for a section 847(b) felony and prosecutors had brought a successful case against him, his attorneys could attempt to sidestep section 847 by alleging that the situation fit within an exception to the statute’s immunity.  


a. Respondeat Superior Liability


In Calvillo-Silva, the California Supreme Court asked the parties to brief the issue of whether employees/agents of a property owner were entitled to immunity, and if not, whether the employer was subject to respondeat superior liability.
  The Calvillo-Silva court eventually concluded that they “lack[ed] an appropriate record in this case for resolving the employee/agent and respondeat superior liability issues.”  The court therefore declined to express an opinion on those issues.  At least in theory, then, a plaintiff in Bodine’s position today could test this theory by bringing claims against agents of Enterprise and Shasta Union and then against the school and district on a respondeat superior theory.  However, because the legislature expressly considered Bodine in passing section 847, the court might well reject this limited reading of section 847 immunity.
 

b. The Blameworthy Conduct Exceptions to Immunity

Section 847(f) clarifies that the statute “does not limit the liability of an owner or an owner’s agent which otherwise exists for willful, wanton, or criminal conduct, or for willful or malicious failure to guard or warn against a dangerous condition, use, structure, or activity.”  A post-847 Bodine plaintiff would likely be left arguing that the defendants’ behavior meets the section 847(f) standard and that landowner immunity is therefore inappropriate.

Of course, Enterprise and Shasta Union did not intentionally set up a trap for trespassers.  But, at the same time, Ricky had a plausible argument that the defendants were more at fault than a landowner who simply knew of a potential danger and failed to guard against it or to warn trespassers.  First, the prior tragedy involving Paul Schuur made a serious, or even fatal, injury more than a mere theoretical possibility.  Second, that danger was balanced against a cost that could have been as low as a few pieces of lumber.  Usually, the defendant in such a skylight case would be able to assert an additional cost—the value inherent in the skylights, particularly the natural light they provide—which would be lost if the district covered them with a weight-bearing, presumably opaque material.  However, any value inherent in the skylights in their initial, transparent condition was no longer present once the district painted over the glass.  


Still, that argument probably loses.  Supporters of the legislation added the section 847(f) exceptions in response to concerns that individuals would seek immunity after setting up or maintaining traps with the purpose of deterring or punishing felons.  Moreover, the Calvillo-Silva court established that willfulness is not a mere absence of care, but “involves a more positive intent actually to harm another or to do an act with a positive, active and absolute disregard of its consequences.”
  We can perhaps infer from the circumstances surrounding Bodine that the defendants intended not to take any action to remedy the skylight problem (although even this level of intentionality is questionable in a bureaucracy such as the school system).  However, it seems an unreasonable stretch to suggest that this failure of action was motivated by a willful intent to cause injury or by a malicious failure to act despite an awareness of the probable consequences.  

Closing Remarks on Bodine, Section 847, and the Tort Reform Movement

Although the Bodine case played a role in motivating the creation of section 847, for many people, the case suggests a serious problem with the bright lines the legislation draws.  While the bill was being considered, Representative McAlister sought to rally support by contrasting the felonious trespasser with the innocent landowner: 

Whatever may be said in defense of the alleged right of a trespasser to sue a landowner for the trespasser’s injuries sustained while trespassing, there is nothing to be said on behalf of a thief, a cattle rustler or other felon or would-be felon who is injured in the course of his felony.  Such a wrongdoer should not be allowed by the law to add still more injury to insult.  Surely innocent, law-abiding landowners should have some rights that are respected by the courts of our state.

However, an examination of the Bodine case raises questions about McAlister’s comments and what constitutes an “innocent, law-abiding landowner.”  Shouldn’t an innocent property owner avoid tort liability regardless of the plaintiff?  If the Bodine defendants did nothing wrong in maintaining the skylight in its then-current condition, they should have been comfortable going to trial against any plaintiff.  Rather, McAlister appears to be raising a notion of comparative innocence.  He seems to suggest that where the plaintiff has committed a felony, mere negligence by a landowner should be insufficient for liability to attach to his action.  A similar principle (albeit in reverse) had been in place during California’s contributory negligence days prior to Li: even a negligent plaintiff was able to recover against a more culpable defendant, such as one who had behaved recklessly or intentionally.

But the Bodine facts complicate the concept of comparative innocence.  Even if Ricky was engaging in a felony by stealing a light that the school’s vice principal valued at $35, over 8 months had passed since Paul Schuur’s death, during which time the school and district could easily have remedied what they had to recognize was a potentially deadly threat to their students and workers as well as to the trespassers they knew frequented the gymnasium roof.  Which party is innocent in such a scenario? 


In reality, the answer to that question (at least on an ethical level) is probably, “neither.”  However, in the world of Alister McAlister, Ronald Reagan, and the lobbyists at the American Tort Reform Association, as in the universe of their opponents in the legal academy, the blameworthy party is clear-cut.  Reformers seek to catalyze political action through their stilted presentation of “facts,” and those who are disturbed by the perceived deception instinctively seek to balance the scales through selectively “filling in” the gaps in the tale.  

Such selective storytelling results in laws along the lines of section 847.  Even absent section 847, a plaintiff who is injured while committing a felony is unlikely to bring a lawsuit.
 And, if he does so but his claim is truly not meritorious, it will likely be dismissed at the summary judgment level (like the more sympathetic Kurshal case). In the rare event that such a case reaches a jury, the public outcry surrounding the McAlister-edited Bodine tale suggests that where a decision for the defendant is clearly warranted, he or she will generally get it.  So, section 847 is of dubious value.  But, the law has a very real potential for harm.  Absent section 847 and armed with all of the facts, the defendant and plaintiff in Bodine were able to reach a modest settlement, one that recognized the fault of both parties and the resultant risks of a jury trial.  After the law’s passage, Ricky Bodine probably would have had no recourse to any compensation for his injuries, regardless of the extent of the defendants’ negligence.  


Section 847, like the tort story that motivated its passage, is at once rhetorically unassailable and dangerously simplistic. 
� The American Tort Reform Association (ATRA) suggests that one of the problems with the tort system is that certain groups (presumably middle-aged white professionals) are underrepresented on juries.  ATRA recommends tightening jury exemptions in order to correct the imbalance, particularly in high stakes cases that are likely to go on for several days. http://www.atra.org.
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